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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

)
CHRISTINE EKALLIIPSE MOULOKI,

Plaintiff,

V. No. 14 C 5532

EPEE,

)

)

)

;

MARIE PAULE EPEE & ERIC NGADO ) Judge Virginia M. Kendall

)

)
Defendants. )

)

)

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Plaintiff Christine EkalliipseMouloki filed a nine-count Complaint seeking relief for the
childcare she provided Defendaritlarie Paule Epee and Eric Ngado Epee after she moved to
the United States from Cameroon. The Epees rfamvieave to file alimended Answer to the
Complaint and for partial summary judgmenkor the below reasonshe Court denies the
Epees’ Motion for Leave to File Amended AnsvierComplaint [120] andhe Court grants in
part and denies in part the Epees’'tRhMotion for Summary Judgment. [126]

BACKGROUND

The parties do not dispute the beltacts unless otherwise noted.

Plaintiff Christine Ekalliipse Mouloki (ouloki”) was born in 1965 in Douala,
Cameroon. (Dkt. 1, 1 9.) She did not attend geller obtain any kind of higher education.
(Dkt. 149, 1 1.) She cannotesik or read English well.(Id., 1 12.)

Defendant Eric Ngando Epee (“Mr. Epee”)sMaorn and raised in Cameroon and later

moved to France to pursue ld@ducation. (Dkt. 143-5, at 4, 1311.) Defendant Marie Paule

! Defendants argue that this assessment is subjective aatbthean inappropriate statenerf fact that should be
disregarded. (Dkt. 149, 1 12.)
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Epee (“Mrs. Epee”) was born and studied in France, but she has family in Cameroon and lived
there for a period. SeeDkt. 149-1, at 1-2, 11:1-12:23; DKt49-6, at 5, 99:16-19; Dkt. 143-4, at

3, 9:10-10:3.) The Epees, wheaeanarried to each other, are bbdl.S. citizens. (Dkt. 143, 1 7;

Dkt. 143-4, at 7, 40:22-25.) Mrs. Epee hasazlilor's Degree in busess and took evening
classes to earn her degree in early childhoodldpreent. (Dkt. 149-1, &2-3, 12:3-13:2; Dkt.

149-2, at 3, 23:13-20; Dkt. 149-2t 6, 26:1-3.) Mr Epee earned his Mter's in Business
Administration in a full-time program at Duke Wersity and then obtained a job working for
United Airlines, which brought him to Chiga. (Dkt. 143-5, a4-5, 16:19-17:11.)

Mrs. Epee traveled to Cameroon iredé@mber 2000. (Dkt. 149-2, at 2, 22:10-15.)
Mouloki was living in Cameroon working as a nannyheg time of the Epees’ visits. (Dkt. 1, 1
10-11; Dkt. 149-6, at 5, 99:4-5; Dkt. 149-3, at 6,3/B:) Mouloki says that she cared for the
Epees’ children during their 2-3 wegkcations to Cameroon in 2000 and 28@hd they paid
her money for doing sb.(Dkt. 149, at 2, 7 3Dkt. 149-2, at 10, 30:2-1Dkt. 149-3, at 6, 70:3-
5.) The Epees have two children, Kenny and kamb (Dkt. 1, 11 13:4.) Mouloki has two
children of her own, Ntone Vaent Jacque-Oliver, who was hoin 1983, and Sicke Hermine
Yoolande, who was born in 1989d( § 10.)

Mouloki says that the Epeesked her around that time tavel to the United States in
order to work as their nanny; Mrs. Epee says khailoki came to live with the Epees after Mrs.
Epee’s mother called her and said that Mould&ded some temporary help. (Dkt. 149, 1 4;

Dkt. 149-2, at 10-11, 30:20-31:1.) Mouloki satfsat Mrs. Epee promised her good pay,

2 Mrs. Epee disputes that she met Mikillin 2000, stating instead that she meet Mouloki only in 2001 at her
mother’s house. (Dkt. 149-2, at 6-8, 26:24-28:10.) The dispute is not materiaideuhs in this motion.

3 When asked at her deposition “Have you ever paid anyotadke care of your childn@” Mrs. Epee replied “No.”
(Dkt. 149-3, at 6, 70:3-5.)



housing? help obtaining legal immigriain status, and assured heattif she came to the United
States she couldtren home to Cameroon afttree years of serviaance Mrs. Epee gave birth

to all of her children. (Dkt. 143-1, 1 3; DKt43-3, at 30, 57:16-24; Dkt. 149, 11 4-5, 8.) Mrs.
Epee says that she and Mouloki never had amy (foagreement, let alone an employment
agreement. (Dkt. 149-4, at 12, 55:10-18; Dkt. 149-5, at 3, 100:8-10.) She and Mrs. Epee never
discussed specific numerical wages. (Dkt. 143, 1 19.) Mouloki never discussed any terms, tasks,
salary, or wages with Mr. Epee.ld( at 1116-18.) In any cas®r. and Mrs. Epee never
threatened Mouloki or her faly in order to make her come to the United Statdd. at 11 12-

15.)

Whatever the terms, Mouloki ultimately malvéo the United States, though the Parties
dispute the Epees’ role in helping her get hdfeuloki contends that Mr. Epee coordinated her
travel to the United States, including procgria French passport from Mr. Epee’s cousin for
Mouloki to use. (Dkt. 143-3, &@7-29, 54:11-56:6; Dkt. 149, §)7.She arrived in Chicago on
May 8, 2002 and Mr. Epee picked her up from thpaat. (Dkt. 149, 1 9.) Mouloki says that
Mr. Epee took the passport back ogwer arrival and that Mrs. Ep eventually took the passport
back to France.Id. at  10; Dkt. 143-3, &9-30, 56:17-57:4.) Defends gave Mouloki a brief
tour of Schaumburg, lllinois, vere they lived. (Dkt149, § 11.) Theyid not explain to
Mouloki how to contact the pigk or fire department.Id. at § 11.) Regardless, Defendants state
that they “were not involved iassisting with [Mouloki’s] travefrom Cameroon to the United
States.” (Dkt. 143-8, at 4nterrogatory No. 6.)

From her arrival in May 2002 until her pirture from Chicago on December 9, 2007,

Mouloki, Mr. Epee, and Mrs. Epee all residedether at the Epee household in Schaumburg,

4 Mouloki says that Defendants promised her “a pladeeofown,” which the Defendantsly dispute by citing to
their proposed Amended Answer to the Complaint that the Court does not permit them leaveSte fildfra
Discussion, Part I.



lllinois. (Dkt. 143, 1 8.) Oncen the Epee household, Mouloki edrfor the Epee children and
did household choréestypically working from at least 80 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. and sometimes
waking up in the middle of the night to care for the childrefkt. 149, 11 13, 23; Dkt. 143-5,
at 15, 93:1-9.) When Mouloki requestede day off per week, Defendants refuéegDkt. 149,

1 17.) Mr. and Mrs. Epee never discussedkwmurs with Mouloki. (Dkt. 143, 1 20-21.)
Mouloki stayed in a bedroom with the two Epdnéldren and slepon a twin mattress on top of a
bed base while the childrenaskd a bunk bed. (Dkt. 143-8, atiterrogatory No. 11; Dkt. 149,
118.)

During this time, Defendants did not ask Moultk pay rent or pitch in for food. (Dkt.
149-4, at 12, 55:5-9.) Defendantsygaviouloki cash, food, and cloth&sMouloki states that at
first she was not given money but over time Epees began providing her $50 each month and
later that amount was increased to approi@ga$b350 per month. (Dkt. 149, 1 20.) Mouloki
claims that this cash equated to less thh®©0 per hour although she disgmithat she was ever
“paid.”® (Id.) None of the parties memialized in writing how muchmoney the Epees gave to
Mouloki. (Dkt. 143, §{ 22-25.)

In December 2007, Mouloki gave Mr. Epegpeoximately $600 to hold onto for her.

(Dkt. 143-8, at 4, Interrogatory No. 7; Di#49-7, at 2-3, 121:1-122:3.) Mouloki gave Mr. Epee

5 Defendants deny that Mouloki was “the caretaker of Mr. and Mrs. Epee’s children,” but only cite to support that
Mrs. Epee denies ever having an agreg¢maétihn Mouloki to watch the children and do not deny that she lived in the
bedroom with her children. (Dkt. 149, § 16; Dkt. 149-4, at 12, 55:10-12.) Thed@ngttues this to mean that the
Defendants do not deny that Mouloki indeed cared for their children. Defendants’ witness Gislaine Ouandja
explained that she would not say that Mouloki worked ferféimily like an employedyut cared for the children in

that “The big kids were in charge of the kids. So in that sense, yes...if there was somethintpey dould be

doing it but not working as an employee like, you know, on a shift or somethingdiké {Dkt. 143-7, at 12, 83:4-

20.) She adds that it is normal for them to change other people’s children’s diapers, but “that’s more an Africa
thing.” (Id. at 13, 84:2-9.)

6 Defendants dispute that they themselves ever woke Mouloki up in the middle of the nightrimitdispute that
Mouloki woke up to care for the childrenSdeDkt. 149, § 14; Dkt. 149-6, at 13, 107:13-18.)

7 Defendants dispute this in that they insist Mouloki was not their employee and therefore “never had to request days
off,” but they do not deny that Mouloki did not take days off. (Dkt. 149, 1 17.)

8 Defendants did not keep any records of what they provided Mouloki. (Dkt. 143-8, at 4-5, Interrogagjy No

9 Defendants argue that Mouloki was never “paid” because she was never an employee. (Dkt. 149, 1 20.)
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money to hold onto via Mrs. Epee when she tiedfunds to do so because she believed based
on Mrs. Epee’s comments that Mr. Epee hduhak account available where he could set the
money aside for Mouloki to take with her when shef&{Dkt. 143-1, at 6,  10; Dkt. 149, |
21.) He did not give her the money back. (OK9-7, at 4, 123:1-3; Dk1.49, 1 22.) The parties
dispute whether Mouloki ever demanded the ngdmeck from Mr. Epee. (Dkt. 149, § 37; Dkt.
149-7, at 4, 123:1-6.) Mouloki gs that once when she asked Mrs. Epee for her money, Mrs.
Epee told her that she would never see that snagain and that it would be used to pay for
Mouloki’'s return fare to Cameroon. (Dkt. 14& 7, § 21; Dkt. 143-1, at 6, 1 10.) Over the
course of what became more than five yeMs, Epee was aware that Mouloki lived in his
home, cared for his children flang hours each day, and sleptaomattress on top of a bed base
in his children’s roont! (Dkt. 149, 1 23.)

Mouloki says that during her years with tBpees they isolated her from others and did
not permit her to leave the residence as shegieakt. 149, § 24.) Dendants point out that
Mouloki was permitted to attend Epee family gatherings and that she kept her own acquaintances
in lllinois. (Id. at 1 24.) Mouloki saythat she “knew some people”thihey were not friends.
(Dkt. 149-9, at 3, 100:5-10.) Specifically,estknew two people, Bernadette and Flo, who
babysat for friends of Mrs. Epe€Dkt. 149-9, at 3%, 100:11-101:12.) Théywould get together
at the barbecues” and “have sympathy for each othéat.”af 4, 101:7-9.) Mouloki could come
and go from the household when the Epees wantacation and did notibg her with them.

(Dkt. 143, 11 27-28.) While sherdéid with the Epees, Mouloki hadcell phone that she kept in

0'Mr. Epee denies this. (Dkt. 149-7, at 3, 122:4-25.)

1 Mr. Epee disputes that he was aware of Mouloki “working” to care for his children in that she was not an
employee. (Dkt. 149, 1 23.) He adds that he and Mouloki rarely splokeDKt. 149-4, at 12, 55:10-18; Dkt. 149-

8, at 3, 113:2-5.)



her possession.ld at 1 29.) Sometimes, she held oatset of keys to the Epee hod$gld. at
1 26.) Sometimes she even took the bus torthk on her own and left the house to do things
without the Epees.Id. at {1 30-31.)

Yet when Mouloki asked the Epees if she da@turn home to Cameroon when her sister
became ill in 2006. (Dkt. 143-1, 1 12; Dkt. 149, § 28.) Defendants refused, and Mouloki did not
get to see her sister again before her sister'di¢bkt. 149, 1 28.)

For the first several years, Mouloki did rave a physical encounter with either of the
Epees. (Dkt. 143, 1 40.) Then one day in 200&,. Epee pushed Mouloki and pulled her by
the shirt!* (Id. at  38; Dkt. 143-3, at 37-39, 64:23-66:MJuloki had to go down the staircase,
ostensibly to balance herself, but did not falDkt. 143-3, at 38-39%5:24-66:5.) Mrs. Epee
raised her hand up to hit Moulok(Dkt. 143, 11 39-40; Dkt. 13; at 39, 66:7-9.)  Mouloki
said, “[I]f you hit me, | will cal the police.” (Dkt. 143-3, at 3%6:7-14.) Mrs. Epee replied,
“[1]f there’s anyone here who wadlicall the police, it is me, becseiyou do not have any papers
here.*> (Id. at 39, 66:14-16.) Mouloki testifies thrs. Epee threatened her repeatedly:
“[W]henever [we] had probles) all the time she wodlsay that to me.” Id. at 76, 113:24-
114:10.) She also says that Mrs. Epee saitleto “[I]f the police found out that you were
here...it's not only that you're going to be itible, not only that they’re going to arrest you,
but they’re also going to take the keyrsd throw them in the river.”Id. at 96-97, 161:17-162:3;

Dkt. 149, 1 25; Dkt. 149-3, at 3, 67:2-5.) oMoki sometimes saw police while she was living

2 Defendants assert that Mouloki Hael own set of keys to their homet biouloki avers that she only had access

to keys when she was with the Defendants’ children. .(DK3, 1 26.) Otherwise, she says, the Epees expected her

to return the keys at all other timesd.)

13 Defendants dispute this only in that Mrs. Epee testified that Mouloki never asked Mrs. Epee for hetpiirgret

to Cameroon to see her sister, but they do not dispute that they refused to let her go. (Dkt. 143, 1Y 4144; Dkt

1 28; Dkt. 149-12, at 3, 92:3-8.)

4 Mrs. Epee denies that these physintdractions occurred. (Dkt. 128, at 10; Dkt. 149-3, at 3, 67:6-8, 12-15.)

15 Mrs. Epee also asserts that she never threatened Mouloki about contacting the authorities or having Mouloki
imprisoned or deported. (Dkt. 149, 1 25.)



with the Epees, but she says she did not cotitach “[b]ecause | dichot have any identity'®
(Dkt. 143-3, at 40, 67:2-22.) Mr. Epee never uphgsical force or restraint against Mouloki,
nor did he threaten to do either. (Dkt. 1289aDkt. 143, 1Y 32-33; Dkt. 143-3, at 38, 65:7-9.)
He also did not threaten to call the police make any threats to Mouloki regarding her
immigration status. (Dkt. 143, 11 3®; Dkt. 143-3, at 75, 113:20-23.)

In 2006, Mouloki suffered an ulcéf. (Dkt. 143-1, 1 11; Dkt149, 1 26.) She stayed in
the hospital three days and Mr. Epee came to pick her up and drive her back to the Epee
household. (Dkt. 149, 1 27.) Mouloki still had $éspin her stomach when she returned to the
house. Id. at § 27.) Despite this, she immediatebrtdd caring for the children without time to
rest and recover upon her retd#n(ld. at 1 27)

Around 2007, Defendants told Mouloki that skeuld need to find a new place to live
when they returned to Camerotin.(Dkt. 1, T 47; Dkt. 143, $3.) Mouloki learned that the
Defendants were considering having her stahénUnited States with Mrs. Epee’s cousin, Marie
Reed (“Mrs. Reed”). (Dkt. 1, £7.) Mouloki spoke with MrsReed about th@ossibility of
working for her and disclosed what the Epees had paid her, as well as her working conditions.
(Id. at § 47.) In response, Mrs. Reed told Mikilthat was the Epeesere doing to her was
wrong and the equivalent to slaveryd. Mrs. Reed promise thdtMouloki could get herself

to New York that Mouloki could stay with herld()

6 However, Mouloki also says that she was not awarestieaheeded papers to live in the United States until 2007.
(Dkt. 143-3, at 40, 67:10-22.)

17 The Parties dispute whether Mouloki suffered the ulcer because of “the stress of her poaanii/ingrk
conditions.” (Dkt. 149, 1 26.)

18 Defendants dispute this only in denying that she went back to “work” because Defendants contest whether
Mouloki actually worked for them. (Dkt. 149, { 27.)

19 Mouloki denies that any such conversation ever occurred. (Dkt. 143, 1 43; Dit, 143.)
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On December 9, 2007, the Epees dropped Mouloki off at a shopping center to run errands
for them?® (Dkt. 1, 1 48; Dkt. 149,  29.) They pladrte pick her up several hours later. (DKkt.
1, 1 48.) Unbeknownst to the Epees, Mouloki peghrranged for someone to meet her at the
shopping center that day and drive teea friend’s home, where shad started to store some of
her belongs in anticipation of g out of the Epee household. (Dkt. 1, 1 48.) She called a taxi
with the help of her friend and asked the texitake her to the bus station in Chicadd.)(
There, Mouloki boarded a bus heading to New York Citg.) (Mouloki did not tell the Epees
that she was leaving. (Dkt. 143, § 46.) She werdive with Mrs. Reed, Mrs. Epee’s cousin,
who had told Mouloki that she could stay witar in New York. (Dkt. 1, 1 47; Dkt. 143, | 48;
Dkt. 149, 1Y 29-30.) Mouloki livedith Mrs. Reed until 2011. (K. 143, { 49; Dkt. 149, T 30.)
During this time, Mrs. Reedias also abusive to MouloK. (Dkt. 149, § 31.)

In 2012, while receiving addithal treatment for her ulcavjouloki encountered a social
worker at the hospital. (Dkt. 149, 1 32.) The abwiorker referred Mouloki to an attorney who
referred Mouloki to Safe Horan, who conducted inka with Mouloki onJune 28, 2012. (Dkt.
149, 97 33-34; Dkt. 143-1, T 13.) Safe Horizorrked with Mouloki to obtain her T-Visa,
report her situation to ¢éhauthorities, and fingro bonocounsel for her civisuit. (Dkt. 149, 1
35.) In 2014, Mouloki obtaineithe T-Visa that she currently holds. (Dkt. 143, 11 50-51.)

Mouloki continues to reside ithe New York City area. (R. 143, § 2.) The Epees have
returned to Cameroonld( at 11 5-6.)

On July 21, 2014, Mouloki filed thi€omplaint. (Dkt. 1.)

20 parties dispute whether Mouloki “escaped’simply left, arguing that she h#fte autonomy toglave at any time.
(Dkt. 149, 1 29.)
2! Defendants argue that this statement is subject and should thus be disregarded undelr. RiD&t5649, 1 31.)
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LEGAL STANDARD

“The court shall grant summary judgmenthe movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material famtd the movant is entitled to jutignt as a matter of law.” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 56(a). Whether a fact is matedapends on the underlyirggbstantive law that
governs the disputeCarroll v. Lynch 698 F.3d 561, 564 (7th Cir. 2012) (citation omitted). “A
factual dispute is ‘genuine’ only if a reamble jury could findor either party.” Nichols v.
Mich. City Plant Planning Dep/t755 F.3d 594, 599 (7th Cir. 201dhternal quotation marks
and citation omitted). Because the plaintiféars the ultimate burden of persuasion, the
defendant’'s summary judgment burden “maydizezharged by ‘showing-that is, pointing out
to the district court—that there is an abseoicevidence to support tmnmoving party’s case.”
Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 325 (19863ge also Andrews v. CBOCS W., Iinel3
F.3d 230, 234 (7th Cir. 2014). *“Upon suchslaowing, the nonmovant must then ‘make a
showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case.”
Modrowski v. Pigattp712 F.3d 1166, 1168 (7th Cir. 2013) (quotidglotex 477 U.S. at 322).
The Court views the evidence in a light méstorable to the nonmoving party and draws all
reasonable inferences in her fav@ee Popovits v. CirauCity Stores, In¢.185 F.3d 726, 731
(7th Cir. 1999) (internal citations omitteddee e.qg.Duff v. Grandberry No. 14 C 8967, 2017
WL 2424236, at *1 (N.D.lll. June 5, 2017) (citifgopovits 185 F.3d at 731). Summary
judgment is only appropriate where “no reasongiatg could rule infavor of the nonmoving
party.” See Bagwe v. Sedgwick Claims Mgmt. Servs,, 81d. F.3d 866, 879 (7th Cir. 2016)

(citation omitted).



DISCUSSION

In her Complaint, Mouloki sets forth nim®unts against the Epees. Counts I-1ll allege
violations of the TraffickingVictims Protection Reauthorizah Act (“TVPRA”) for peonage
(18 U.S.C. 88 1581, 1595), forced labor (18 G.$8 1589, 1595), and tratking into servitude
(18 U.S.C. 88 1590, 1595). Count IV alleges a violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act
(“FLSA") for violating its Federal Minimum Wage and OvertamPay law (29 U.S.C. 88 206,
207, 216(b)). The remaining counts allegeestadiims for not paying minimum wage and
overtime compensation (820 ILCS 105/2, 105/4pyft V); failure to provide the lawful
frequency of payments (820 ILCS 115/3 — B18/15/14) (Count VI); anversion (Count VII);
fraudulent misrepresentation (Count Vil&nd unjust enrichment (Count IX).

The Epees submit that the Court should grant summary judgment against most of
Mouloki’'s claims either due to the inapplicatyilof the TVPRA based on timing (Dkt. 128, at 6-
8) or for lack of timeliness for Counts IV-V and VII-IXd{ at 12-17). To make this argument,
the Epees move for leave to file an Amendedwer to the Complaint because they waited to
use a statute of limitations defense until after theectdiscovery so that they could assert it in
good faith. (Dkt. 120, at 1-2.) The Epees alentend that no material, disputed facts remain
that would allow Mouloki to prevail on the merité her TVPRA or state law claims because the
facts cannot show that the Ep@egrced or harbored Moulofdkt. 128, at 10-12); that Mouloki
entered into a labor contract with Mr. Epégk @t 14¥% that Mouloki demanded that the Epees

return a specified amount of mgonthat they refused to givéd( at 14-15); nor that Mouloki’s

22 Mouloki alleges each claim against b&thfendants unless otherwise noted.
23 Defendants do not seek summary judgment on CoufdMFrequency of Payments with regards to Mrs. Epee.
(Dkt. 142, at 14.)
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activities in the Epee household constituted a business rather than personal relatidnahip (
15-17)24
l. Motion for Leaveto Filean Amended Answer

As a threshold matter, the Epees move for leave to file an Amended Answer to the
Complaint. (Dkt. 120.) The Epedsl not plead any affirmativéefenses in their Answerld(,

1 2; seeDkt. 36.) They seek leave to amend thenswer to includestatute of limitations
defenses for Counts IV-V and VII-IX. (Dkt. 1204Y) The Epees state that they “can now in
good faith claim that some of Plaintiff's clainase time barred” becausfflact discovery is
closed.” (d., 1 3.) Parties must affirmatively statay affirmative deferesin responding to a
pleading. Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(c)(1). Following @& days after a party serves an answer, parties
may seek a court’s leave to amde Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(1)-(2).

District courts have “discretion to allow ansaver to be amended to assert an affirmative
defense not raised initially Williams v.Lampe 399 F.3d 867, 871 (7th Cir. 2005). However,
“[a]s a general matter, an affirmative defense that is not timely pleaded is waMe&ann v.
PNC Bank, Nat. Ass;nl1 C 6894, 2013 WL 1337204, at *8 (N.ID.Mar. 29, 2013) (quoting
Brunswick Leasing Corp. v. Wisconsin Cent., L186 F.3d 521, 530 (7th €Ci1998)). Courts
regularly deny motions for leave to amend an amsmhen a party waits months to make such a
request, particularly if discoveris not necessary in order to assert a statute of limitations
defense. See e.g.Lyon Financial Services Vllinois Paper and Copier C9.10 C 7064, 2016

WL 147654, at *18 (N.D.IlIl. Jan. 13, 2016) (denikxhve to amend and waived statute of

24 Mouloki does not oppose Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment regarding Counts | and.\M.42Dkt 9,
n.1;id. at 15, n.5.) In footnote 5, Mouloki refers to Count IV as the lllinois Minimum Wage Lawhwhigstates

the claims from her Complaint, in which Count IV sought relief under the FLSA and Count V pursued the lllinois
Minimum Wage Law (“IMWL"). Because Mouloki addressBefendants’ FLSA claim iher Response to their
Motion for Summary Judgment, and does not address their IMWL arguments, the Court coh&trae®rt as
Mouloki acquiescing to Defendants’ motion regarding the IMWL under Count V.
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limitations defense post-discovery when cémmg made its availability apparentgterling v.
Riddle 99 C 2678, 2000 WL 198440, at *4.MIIl. Feb. 11, 2000) (sameYenters v. City of
Delphi, 123 F.3d 956, 968 (7th Cir. 1997) (same).

Likewise here, the Epees’ timeliness defense comes ironically late. The Epees moved to
assert a statute of limitations defense onuday 6, 2017, after fact discovery closed on
December 31, 2016, some 17 months after Ptafiled her Complaint on July 21, 2014. (Dkt.

1; Dkt. 94; Dkt. 120.) In her Complaint, Mouiastated that she livedith the Epees from May

8, 2002 to December 9, 2007, at which point Moulokitlee Epee household with the help of a
friend. (Dkt. 1, 11 48-49.) Accordingly, at the time they were served with the Complaint,
Defendants were aware of the exact timefratteged in the Complaint and had notice that a
statute of limitations defense@wld apply given that Mouloki filed suit more than 6 years after
she left the Epee household as alleged in @®@mplaint. No discovery was necessary to
elucidate the viability othat defense and the informatiabout when Moulokiived with the
Epees, as this was uniquely within the controth&f Epees — they were clearly aware of when
Mouloki lived with them. Becausthe Defendants were clearly put on notice of the availability
of a statute of limitations when the initial colaipt was filed, Defendants did not need discovery
to become aware of this or assert the defense in good faith, as they coStmae.g.Lyon
Financial Services2016 WL 147654, at *1&terling 2000 WL 198440, at *4. Defendants have
failed to provide an adequate reason for the delay, so the Court finds that they have waived this

defense, and the Court denies them leave to amend their ARger.

25 Because Defendants only submittedaige of limitations argument agaiidouloki’s FLSA claim (Count V)

in their Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court denies summary judgment on this Greidkt( 128, at 12.)

26 Even if the Court granted Defendants leave to amendAnsiver, they would not necessarily prevail. A litigant

is entitled to equitable tolling where an “extraordinaryuinstance stood in [her] way and prevented timely filing.”
Knauf Insulation, Incv. S. Brands, In¢820 F.3d 904, 908 (7th Cir. 2016). To arrive in the United States and care
for the children of a family that is not your own as an undocumented immigrant does ot phesordinary
circumstances under which a potential plaintiff can become familiar with her rights. Mouloki comhtatnstset did
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. Motion for Summary Judgment
A. TVPRA

1. Scope of TVPRA (Counts Il and Il1)

Congress first enacted the Traffickingctims Protection Act on October 28, 2000.
Congress has amended the Act several times in the years since. Most relevant to this case, the
Trafficking Victims Protection Rauthorization Act of 2003 wenihto effect on December 19,
2003, and with it introduced 18 8.C. 8§ 1595 — a civil remedy that created a private right of
civil action for any victim to bring against hts her perpetrator for conduct violating Section
1589 for Peonage, Section 1590 for Forced Lalaod Section 1591 for Trafficking into
Servitude. SeePub. L. 108-193, § 4(a)(4)(A), Det9, 2003, 117 Stat. 2878. Section 1595 does
not apply retroactively to conduct that ooea before December 19, 2003. 18 U.S.C. § 1595;
see e.g.Ditullio v. Boehm 662 F.3d 1091, 1099 (9th Cir. 2011) (citibgndgraf v. USI Film
Prods, 511 U.S. 244, 249-50, 265, 269-70, 281-83 (1994)Yamdaguchi v. United States Dep’t
of the Air Force 109 F.3d 1475, 1480, 1482 (9th Cir. 19¢7Iding that Setton 1595 does not
apply retroactively because it added new legalsequences to TVPA violations and because it
creates new liabilities rather than new righBye v. Siddig810 F.Supp.2d 127, 136 (D.D.C.
2011) (applying Section 1595 retatizely would be “impermissile’ but plaintiffs could pursue
claims for conduct occurring afterahdate until her escape in 2009ge also Labojewski v.
Gonzalez407 F.3d 815, 819 (7th Cir. 2005) (interniétions omitted) (when unclear whether a

statute is meant to be retroactive, “prospéigtremains the appropriate default rule.”).

not know that these rights existed until she spoke with a s@oi&ker in 2012. (Dkt. 1423t 20; Dkt. 143-1, 7 13.)

Other courts have found that a plaintiff's limitations pdrtolled until at least she escaped from her employer’'s
house. See Cruz v. Mayp&@ 73 F.3d 138, 145-46 (4th Cir. 2014). Nonetheless, the Court need not decide the issue
at this time because it is mowithout the Defendants’ ability tassert their timeliness defense.
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Because of this, Mouloki cannot hold tBpees liable under the TVPRA for conduct that
occurred prior to December 19, 2003. This udels the conversations that took place with
Mouloki while she still lived in Cameroon, herore to the United States in May 2002, and her
first year and a half in the United States caring for the Epee child&eeDkt. 1, 11 9-32.)
However, whether the Epees engaged in conthattviolated the TVPRA after December 19,
2003 is a factual, rathdahan, legal question.See Ditulliq 662 F.3d at 1101Siddig 810
F.Supp.2d at 136. Accordingly, t@®urt grants Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment for
Counts Il and 11l to the extentahMouloki's TVPRA chims relate to catuct prior to December
19, 2003, and denies the Motion fancluct occurring after that date.

2. Forced Labor (Count I1)

Timeliness and scope aside, Defendants move the Court to dismiss Count Il on the
merits. Count Il seeks redress under thePR’'s Forced Labor s&on, which provides in
pertinent part that:

Whoever knowingly provides or obtains thieda or services dd person by any one of,
or by any combination of, the following means —

(1) by means of force, threats of force, physteatraint, or threats of physical restraint to
that person or another person;

(2) by means of serious harm or threats abss harm to that person or another person;
(3) by means of the abuse or threatealealse of law or Igal process; or

(4) by means of any scheme, plan, or patieiended to cause the person to believe that,
if that person did not perform such labor or services, that persamother person would

suffer serious harm or physical restraint,

shall be punished as provided under sahien (d) [which allows for fines].

27 Defendants also assert that Mouloki cannot bring a claim pursuant to the 2008 TVPRA Amendments because all
of the conduct in question occurred prior to Mouloki leaving the Epee household on Decetigat. 9(Dkt. 1, 1

48-49; Dkt. 128, at 7.) Mouloki has not asserted this portion of the Act. (Dkt. 142,na2.10The Court thus
declines to further analyze the matter.
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18 U.S.C. § 1589(a); 18 U.S.C. § 1589(d). As defined by the statute, “abuse or threatened abuse
of law or legal process” includegdministrative, civil, or crinmal processes “in any manner or
for any purpose for which the law was not desijne order to exert pissure on another person
to cause that person to take some actiomefmain from taking some action.” 18 U.S.€.
1589(c)(1). Not only physical buisychological, financial, or reputational harm constitutes
“serious harm” so long as it is sufficiently smrs to compel a “reasonable person of the same
background and in the same circumstances t@operbr continue performing labor or services
in order to avoid incurring thdgarm.” 18 U.S.C. § 1589(c)(2).

In other words, if a defendant “knowingly abts the labor or services” of someone by
using “any scheme, plan, or pattéintended to cause that persto believe that they would
encounter serious harm or physical restraint shthdg not perform such labor or services, that
will suffice even without the use or threat of adtphysical force or restraint. 18 U.S.C. §
1589(a)(4). Other courts havecognized that Congress enactedti®a 1589 at least in part “to
address the increasingly subtle methods affibkers” who do not ws physical violence or
injury to induce their victims but instead preatud victim’'s access to a passport; require her to
work for 15 or more hours everyyaf the week without days off; decline to allow her to leave
the home without supervision; limit her contact witkr family; and isolate her from others in
the community, all the while limiting or denying her compensatiee e.g.Lagayan v. Odeh
199 F.Supp.3d 21, 28 (D.D.C. 2016) (citikgwanuka v. Bakilana844 F.Supp.2d 107, 115
(D.D.C. 2012) (quoting H.R. Rep.dN106-939, at 101 (2000) (Conf. Rep.Jompare Muchira
v. Al-Rawaf 14 C 770 (AJT/JFA), 2015 WL 1787144, *7 (E.D.Va. Apr. 15, 2015) (summary
judgment granted where plaintiff outlined poorrkiag conditions as domestic servant but was

not threatened with consequences that would result if she broke “house rules”). Taken together,
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such facts can evince a “scheme, plan, or pdtietended to convince plaintiff that serious
harm or physical restraint woutdsult if she did notantinue to perform the labor and services.
Regarding Mrs. Epee, disputed materiat$aremain to determine whether her conduct
toward Mouloki violated the Forced Labor provision of the TVRPAcca@kding to Mouloki, in
2006, Mrs. Epee grabbed Moulokishirt during an altercatn. (Dkt. 143-3, aB7-39, 64:23-
65:6; 65:21-66:7.) Mrs. Epee denies that tdausurred. (Dkt. 128, at 10; Dkt. 149-3, at 3, 67:6-8,
12-15.) And one time Mrs. Epee raised henchap to hit Mouloki,which Mrs. Epee also
denies. (Dkt. 143-3, at 39, 66:6-9Mouloki told Mrs.Epee that she wadicall the police, and
Mrs. Epee replied that, if anyone should call ploéce, it should be her because Mouloki did not
have her “papers.” Id. at 66:12-16.) Moulokiestifies that Mrs. Eperepeated such threats to
her “whenever [they] had problems, alethme she would say that to me.ld.( at 76, 113:24-
114:10.) She also says that MEpee said to her “that if theolice found out that [she was]
here...it's not only that [Mouloki would] be in troudinot only that they’rgoing to arrest [her],
but they're also going to take the keyrsd throw them in the river.”ld. at 96-97, 161:17-162:3;
Dkt. 149, § 25; Dkt. 149-3, at 3, 67:2-5.) Other courts have found that threats of deportation “can
constitute serious harm to anrmgrant within the meaning of the forced labor statute,” or even
alone can create a disputed issue of matea@l dbout whether defendants abused the law or
legal process or engaged in a subdo mislead a TVPRA claimangee, e.gElat v. Ngoubene
993 F.Supp.2d 497, 523 (S.D.Md. 2014) (internal quotations and citations onmitedye v.
Best Care Agency, Inc961 F.Supp.2d 427, 444-45 (E.D.N.Y. 2013) (citlngited States v.
Calimlim, 538 F.3d 706, 713 (7th Cir. 2008) addited States v. Kozminski87 U.S. 931, 948
(1988)). There are numerous disputed matéaicts regarding the manner in which the parties

met, came to live together, thenteractions, their living @nditions, their actions, and the

16



statements made to each othémy one of a number of thees of human trafficking can be
supported if a jury were to believe Moulokigatements including, but not limited to, her
physical interactions with Mrs. Epee and thkeged statements about Mouloki’s immigration
status coupled with the purportddeats about what would happenMouloki if she went to the
police, which precludesummary judgment.

The same is true for Mr. Epee. The wordsd actions of Mrs. Epee could be construed,
if true, as more explicitly threatening, considgrthat Mr. Epee never used physical force or
restraint against Mouloki, never threatened ezitrand did not threateto call the police or
invoke Mouloki’s immigration status. (Dkt. 128, at 9; Dkt. 143-3, 38, 65:7-9; Dkt. 143-3, at 75,
113:20-23.) Yet a defendant needt employ any of these methomsorder to be held liable
under Section 1589. Mr. Epee was still at a munn aware that Mouloki lived in his home,
cared for his children for long hours each day, aggtsdn a mattress on top of a bed base in his
children’s roon?® (Dkt. 149, § 23.) He disputes tHa¢ took back the gaport that Mouloki
used to come into the United States, whicllsdato question his aareness and involvement
with inhibiting Mouloki’s access to her passport throughout her time with the Egdeat { 10;
Dkt. 143-3, at 29-30, 56:17-57:@kt. 143-8, at 4, Interrogatoo. 6.) The record creates a
guestion as to whether Mr. Epee denied Moulble ability to come and go from their home
freely and limited contact with her familyd friends. (Dkt. 149, § 24; Dkt. 143, 1Y 26, 29-31,
Dkt. 149-9, at 4, 101:7-9.) Further, he was atsarried to Mrs. Epee and lived in the same
household as Mrs. Epee and Mouloki, which rasesaterial questionbaut whether or not he
participated in a scheme, plan, or pattern of aohthat caused Mouloki to stay and care for the

Epee children and household against her will. (D48, T 7; Dkt. 143, | 8.These are facts that

28 Mr. Epee disputes that he was aware of Mouloki “workitigtare for his children, as he states that she was not
an employee. (Dkt. 149, 1 23.) He adds that he and Mouloki rarely sddkeDkt. 149-4, at 12, 55:10-18; Dkt.
149-8, at 3, 113:2-5.)
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together have been used to showther courts that a defendant participated in a “scheme, plan,
or pattern” intended to convince the plaintifatbshe would encounter physical restraint if she
stopped tending to the itdren and householdSee e.gLagayan 199 F.Supp.3d at 28. Because

of that, material questions &dct remain and the Court cannot enter summary judgment at this
time on behalf of Mr. Epee. Accordingly, the Court denies summary judgment for both
Defendants on Count II.

3. Trafficking into Servitude (Count Il1)

Liability also incurs under Sectiod590 of the TVPRA for “[w]hoever knowingly
recruits, harbors, transportsppides, or obtains by any meaasy person for labor or services
in violation of this chapter...” 18 U.S.C. § 1590(ad)louloki waives thiclaim as it pertains to
the Epees’ recruiting, transportingr obtaining her labor or seces, so the Court need not
analyze whether such conduct occurred bedorafter the Act’'s December 19, 2003 enactment,
as the Defendants argue should end the claikt. @28, at 11-12; Dkt. 142, at 14-15.) Instead,
the Court focuses on Mouloki’'s claim that tBpees knowingly harbored her for her labor or
services. (Dkt. 142, at 14-15.)

First, as discussed, conduct beginningcontinuing after December 19, 2003 leaves a
guestion of fact to determine the liability tiie defendants, so Defendants’ motion cannot
succeed on this basis as they provi&ee infra Part I1.A.1. SeeDkt. 128, at 11-12.) Because
Count Il survives, a violation of the TVPRA rems and thus the Court cannot grant Defendants
summary judgment on Count Il on the groundat thlouloki’'s other TVPRA claims fail.See
suprg Part 11LA.2. Geed. at 12.)

Moreover, Mouloki creates a material disgpditfact as to whether the Epees’ conduct

constitutes “harboring” her for héabor or servicesThe TVPRA does not define what it means
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to “harbor,” see 18 U.S.C. § 1590, but at least onéneat court has found that plaintiffs
sufficiently pled a claim agaiha hotel operator fdtnowingly providing lodging to someone for
obtaining sexual labor or serviceSee e.g.Ricchio v. McLean853 F.3d 553, 556 (1st Cir.
2017). In other words, providingdging to someone for the gases of obtaining her labor or
services against her will constiés “harboring.” Under this deifition, it is reasonable to infer
that the Epees could have “harbored” Moulokigsiiit is undisputed that they provided lodging
and a question remains as to whether thatimtasaded to obtain héabor or services. SeeDkt.
143, 1 8; Dkt. 149-4, at 12, 55:5-9.) Becausesttteup the Epees provided to Mouloki creates a
guestion of fact as to whethéhe Epees knowingly sought toduce Mouloki’'s services, the
Court declines to grant sunamy judgment on Count Ill.

B. State Claims

1. Frequency of Payments (Count VI)

Defendant Mr. Epee contends that judgnst@uld be entered in his favor for Mouloki’s
Frequency of Payments claim because no dispute@yialdacts remain that could show that he
entered into an employment agreement withuloki. (Dkt. 128, atl4.) lllinois’s Wage
Payment Act provides that: ry employer shall pay thenfal compensation of separated
employees in full, at the timef separation, if possible, buh no case later than the next
regularly scheduled payday for such employe®@20 ILCS 115/5. Tashow a claim under 820
ILCS 115/5, a plaintiff must demonstrate among o#flements that the parties entered into an
“employment contract or agreement.Catania v. Local 4250/5050 of the Communications
Workers of America359 Ill.App.3d 718, 724 (1st Dist. 2005).

Defendant Mr. Epee asserts that Moulakéver discussed compensation, hours,

employment tasks, or any other related items Wwith such that no material fact issues remains
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that could allow Mouloki to show that she entkiato an employment “agreement” with him.
(Dkt. 128, at 14.) However, an employment riggment” here need not involve a formally
negotiated contract.Cataniag 359 Ill.App.3d at 724 (discussinganders-Scelfo v. Corporate
Office Systems, Inc356 Ill.App.3d 1060, 293 Ill.Dec. 170, 827 N.E.2d 1051 (2005)). Under the
Wage Payment Act, parties neaaly demonstrate “a manifestati of mutual assent on the part
of two or more persons....ld. (citing Landers-Scelfo356 Ill.App.3d at 1067-68 Further, an
“employer” under the Act includes individuals, suh officers of corporations or agents of an
employer, who “knowingly permit[lhe employer to violate the provisions of the Wage Payment
Act,” and those individuals can beld liable as long as they htee right to control the “manner
and method” in which the employee performed her wadkat 724-25.

Taken together, questions wiaterial fact remain as to whether Mr. Epee and Mouloki
had an employment agreement. The recoadvsithat Mr. Epee was aware of and accepted the
benefit of Mouloki's care for his children whilhe knew that she received money and lodging
from his household. SeeDkt. 149, | 23; Dkt. 149-7, at 2-121:1-122:3; Dkt. 149-7, at 4,
123:1-3; Dkt. 149, § 22.) Such tsactions suggest mutual assentin exchangthat suggests
an agreement between the parties, even if infori@ak Catanig 359 Ill.App.3d at 724.
Material, disputed facts therefore remain as/bt@ther Mouloki and Mr. Epee indeed formed an
agreement, so the Defendant’'s argument faiisthese grounds. The Court denies summary
judgment as to Count VI.

2. Conversior{CountVIl)

Defendants argue that Mouloki cannot shawlaim for conversion because she never

demanded possession of the money that sheBefgndants owe her, arsthe cannot establish

the specific amount of money owed. (Dkt. 128,15.) Conversion claims indeed require
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plaintiffs to show that they a@eanded possession of the proper8ee e.g.Johnson v. DiPaolo

14 C 8199, 2016 WL 6568067, at *2 (NIID Nov. 4, 2016) (citingCirrincion v. Johnson184

lIl. 2d 109, 114 (lll. 1998))Cf. Deane v. Fort Dearborn Trust & Savings Bap&1 Ill.App. 517,
530 (lllLApp. July 28, 1926) (plaintiff may otheise show that a demand would have been
unavailing and therefore unnecessary). Othertsdwave also found that a plaintiff pursuing a
conversion claim for money must show that sheghaght to a “specific, identifiable amount of
money.” See e.gAvila v. Citimortgage, In¢.13 C 3566, 2013 WL 5477574t *3 (N.D.IIl. Oct.

2, 2013) (citing3Com Corp. v. Elecs.dRovery Specialists, Incl04 F.Supp.932, 940 (N.D.III.
2000)). That amount can be specifind identifiable in that it Isabeen segregated from other
funds. See e.g3Com Corpl104 F.Supp.932 at 940.

Whether Mouloki made a demand for artgalar amount of money that Defendants
refused remains an open question of matenat.f It is undisputedhat Mr. Epee still has
approximately $600 that Mouloki asked himhold for her. (Dkt. 159, at 8-9, { 22.) Yet
Mouloki never asked Mr. Epee for the money that she asked him to hang onto for her, and
Defendants say that Mr. Epee netield money in a separatevsays account. (Dkt. 149, at 12,

1 36; Dkt. 149-7, at 1-4, 120:16-123:6.) At thensatime, Mouloki says that Mr. Epee kept a

portion of her earnings in a savings account @wad when she asked Mrs. Epee for her money
once Mrs. Epee told her that she would nevertisgemoney again because it would be used to
pay for Mouloki’'s return fare to CameroonDkt. 149, at 7, § 21; Dkt. 143-1, at 6, T 10.)

Especially in light of the facts indicating ththe Epees may have held on to some of Mouloki’s
funds and that Mr. Epee wouldlstiive Mouloki the money if she asked for it because “[ijt was
her money” (Dkt. 149-7, at 4, 123:4-6), the credibibfythe parties’ stateemts will have to be

used to determine whether the funds could learggd from the use of a separate bank account
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specifically used for Mouloki’s earnings and winat Mouloki ever actuallasked for the funds.
The Court therefore deniesmsmary judgment on Count VII.
3. Fraudulent Misrepresentation (Count VIII)

Further, Defendants argue that Mouloki iah bring a fraudulent misrepresentation
claim because such claims narrowly relieve “sas®olving business dinancial transactions
between parties,5ee e.g.Bonhomme v. St. Jamed61 Ill. Dec. 1, 10 (lll. 2012), and because
the tort covers false statements of material, fabereas Mouloki admits that she did not discuss
the exact amount or termstbie salary, wages, or compensation. (Dkt. 128, at 16-17.)

First, a question remains as to whether this case indeed involves “business or financial
transactions beteen parties.” See e.g. Bonhommg 361 Ill. Dec. at 10. Defendants
acknowledge that Mr. and Mrs. Epee providstuloki money. (Dkt. 128, at 17 n.l.)
Defendants characterize this as money “giteemelp out Mouloki wen she needed it.”Id.)
Mouloki calls the money wages.Id() The nature of the cash given by the Epees to Mouloki
very much affects whether their relationshipswaore like a business transaction or a personal
relationship where Mouloki cared for the childr@md household akin to a family member. The
record leaves this question open.

Second, Defendants state that Mouloki medescussed the exasalary, wages, or
amount of compensation with Mrs. Epee before she traveled to the United Stdtest 17.)

Yet Defendants fail to show any law requiritigat a claimant would need to show that a
defendant made fraudulerstatements about specific valu@s order to show fraudulent
misrepresentation. Indeed, to make out aidudent misrepresentation claim in lllinois, a
plaintiff must show that a defenglamade a false statement ofteréal fact known or believed to

be false by the party making it with the inteéatinduce the other party to act, and that the
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statement induced the other party to act inargle on the truth of the statement, leading to
damages.Wigod v. Wells Fargo Bank, N,A73 F.3d 547, 569 (7th Cir. 2012). According to
Mouloki, Mrs. Epee promised her before Moulckme to the United States among other things
that she would pay Mouloki a “good salary(Dkt. 143-1, at 5, § 3.) Mrs. Epee also told
Mouloki that Mouloki would only ban the United States for the years. (Dkt. 143-3, at 30,
57:16-24.) Ultimately, the Epees gave Moulgcksh in an amount below the minimum wage
and Mouloki did not return to @aeroon within three years. kD 143-1, at 2, § 12; Dkt. 143-3,
at 35-36, 62:6-63:12.)Mrs. Epee’s statements could therefbe construed dalse statements,
particularly in light of the purported instarscef physical and psychagical threats made to
Mouloki, which suggest that she did not necalsartend to provide Mouloki with the physical
and psychological autonomy that comes wittgaod salary” or the freedom of movement to
travel. (Dkt. 143-3, at 37-39, 64:23-66i8; at 48, 78:2-12id. at 75-76, 113:20-114:1@]. 96-

97, 161:17-162:3.) Itis reasable to infer that the ultimate rétsuof a circumstance initiated by
Mrs. Epee could be that which she intendedccakdingly, a question dfact remains as to
whether the statements madeMouloki induced her to move tihe United States and care for
the Epees’ children under false pretenses. The Court denies summary judgment on Count VIII.
4. Unjust Enrichment (Count IX)

Counts IV and VI-VIII remain, thus renderimgoot Defendants’ argument that the Court
should grant summary judgment in their faor Count IX on the basis that an unjust
enrichment claim cannot stand if its iteld claims fail. (Dkt. 128, at 18-193ee Enger v. Chi
Carriage Cab Corp.812 F.3d 565, 570 (7th Cir. 2016) (citi@deary v. Philip Morris Inc. 656

F.3d 511, 517 (7th Cir. 2011)). Because Defetglanly move for summary judgment against
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Count IX on these grounds, the Court denssnmary judgment for Mouloki’'s unjust
enrichment claim.

CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the Court denies Defendants’ Motion for Leave to File an
Amended Answer to the Complaint. [120] eT@ourt grants Defenda\tMotion for Summary
Judgment with regards to Counts | and IV, and @lsonts Il and Il to thextent that Plaintiff's
TVPRA claims relate to conduct that ocmd before December 19, 2003, when Congress
enacted the statute. The Cbobdenies summary judgment f@ounts Il and Il for any conduct

occurring after that date amar all other counts. [126]

StateDistrict CourtJudge
ern District of lllinois

Date: June 29, 2017
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